FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
3/24/2021 2:33 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/25/2021 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>99596-6</u> Court of Appeals No. 80755-2-I

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF EDMONDS, a municipality; DAVE EARLING, Mayor of the City of Edmonds, in his official capacity; EDMONDS POLICE DEPARTMENT, a department of the City of Edmonds; and AL COMPAAN, Chief of Police, in his official capacity,

Petitioners,

v.

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is the City of Edmonds (the "City" or "Edmonds"), appellant in the Court of Appeals.

### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The City seeks review of the decision of Division One of the Court of Appeals, filed February 22, 2021, in *City of Edmonds v. Bass*, \_\_ Wn. App. 2d \_\_, 2021 Wash. App. LEXIS 362 (2021). A copy of the decision is attached as Appendix 1 ("App.").

### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

In the summer of 2018, the City of Edmonds responded to public concern about the risks of unsafe firearm storage and unauthorized firearm access by enacting an ordinance containing two provisions: the first requires gun owners in Edmonds to responsibly store their firearms ("the Storage Provision," codified at Edmonds Muni. Code § 5.26.020); the second provision penalizes irresponsible storage that leads to access by minors and unauthorized persons ("the Access Provision," Edmonds Muni. Code § 5.26.030; together with the Storage Provision, the "Edmonds Ordinance" or the "Ordinance")). The Respondents (referred to as Plaintiffs for clarity) engaged in conduct that violates the Storage Provision, but no Plaintiff alleged or testified that he engaged in or intended to engage in conduct that

would violate the Access Provision. Plaintiffs contend that both provisions are preempted by RCW 9.41.290.

The City of Edmonds seeks review of these issues:

- 1. Whether a court reviews a challenge to justiciability under the Uniform Declaratory Judgment Act ("UDJA") using CR 12(b)(6)'s "hypothetical facts" standard, or whether CR 12(b)(1) applies and a plaintiff must allege (and then prove) "an actual, present and existing dispute," and not a "hypothetical [or] speculative" injury. *Diversified Indus. Dev. Corp.* v. *Ripley*, 82 Wn.2d 811, 815, 514 P.2d 137 (1973).
- 2. Whether the public importance exception to UDJA justiciability applies where no Plaintiff has shown that he has suffered or will suffer a concrete harm from the challenged law, and, if so, whether "public importance" requires something more than showing that a decision may have broader impact than the instant case, especially when other persons who have suffered a concrete harm would have standing.
- 3. Whether Washington's firearms preemption statute, RCW 9.41.290, preempts all local regulation related to firearms, or whether local regulation is preempted only when it falls within the enumerated topics defining the preempted "field" that are listed in the statute.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

At the center of this lawsuit is a local law enacted by the City of Edmonds to prevent needless gun deaths and injuries. Plaintiffs have neither alleged that they are adversely impacted by one of the two provisions of the Ordinance nor introduced evidence showing adverse impact, yet they seek to invalidate the law in its entirety. This case thus raises important questions about when a party may request, under the UDJA, that courts invalidate a democratically enacted law. Given the broad preemption standard announced by the Court of Appeals, this case also raises the issue of whether localities have *any* power to pass democratically supported gun safety measures.

Prior to enacting the Ordinance, the Edmonds City Council reviewed empirical research demonstrating that safe firearm storage laws reduce firearm deaths and injuries, and engaged in a full, open and deliberative process. Clerk's Papers ("CP") 90-91. For City residents, the dangers of unsafe firearm storage are far from hypothetical. Before voting, Edmonds City Council heard testimony from a resident whose daughter knew a victim of the nearby Marysville Pilchuck High School shooting, from a community member who mourned the death of a boy in her church after he found an unlocked gun and was unintentionally shot in the head,

and from a Council Member who lost a brother to suicide when his brother accessed his father's unsecured firearm. CP 109-119.

The Ordinance contains two substantive provisions. First, the Storage Provision requires gun owners to lock their guns in a safe or with a trigger or cable lock, when a gun is outside of the owner's control. Edmonds Muni. Code § 5.26.020. Second, the Access Provision punishes owners who store their guns in a manner where they reasonably should have known "that a minor, an at-risk person, or a prohibited person is likely to gain access to a firearm" and such a person does in fact access the firearm. *Id.* § 5.26.030. Both provisions are punishable only by civil fines or community service. *Id.* § 5.26.040.

Plaintiffs filed this lawsuit days after the Edmonds Ordinance was passed. CP 293-300. They sought to invalidate the Ordinance as preempted by Washington's firearms preemption statute, which reads:

The state of Washington hereby fully occupies and preempts the entire field of firearms regulation within the boundaries of the state, including the registration, licensing, possession, purchase, sale, acquisition, transfer, discharge, and transportation of firearms, or any other element relating to firearms or parts thereof, including ammunition and reloader components. Cities, towns, and counties or other municipalities may enact only those laws and ordinances relating to firearms that are specifically authorized by state law, as in RCW 9.41.300, and are consistent with this chapter. Such local ordinances shall have the same penalty as provided for by state

law. Local laws and ordinances that are inconsistent with, more restrictive than, or exceed the requirements of state law shall not be enacted and are preempted and repealed, regardless of the nature of the code, charter, or home rule status of such city, town, county, or municipality.

RCW 9.41.290. While this statute contains broad language, and enumerates many preempted topics, it says nothing about storage laws.

Nowhere in their complaint did Plaintiffs allege that they intended to engage in conduct that would violate the Access Provision (such as leaving a gun where it would be accessible to a minor) or that might bring about any risk that the Access Provision would be enforced against them. Nor did they allege that they would have to change their behavior to bring themselves into compliance with the Access Provision. CP 293-300.

The City moved to dismiss for lack of UDJA justiciability. CP 645-60. The trial court permitted Plaintiffs to amend their complaint, but even after amending and adding a plaintiff, Plaintiffs still failed to allege that they would experience any concrete effect from the Access Provision. CP 280, 565-67. The City again moved to dismiss. CP 548-60. The trial court concluded that Plaintiffs did "not have standing to challenge the [Access Provision]" and could only challenge the Storage Provision. CP 405-06.

The reason that there were no allegations concerning the Access Provision became clear after discovery: no Plaintiff testified that he would face any adverse impact from that provision. They did not engage in conduct that might violate the Access Provision and did not intend to do so. Nor did any Plaintiff suggest that he had changed his behavior to comply with the Access Provision. The closest they came was asserting that *one* of the Plaintiffs was a gun owner whose children lived at home. CP 44. But that plaintiff testified during his deposition that he stored his gun in such a manner that his children *would not be able to access the guns*. CP 349. The other Plaintiffs did not have any children or other unauthorized visitors who came to their homes. CP 367-68, 375.

The parties cross-moved for summary judgment. The trial court cited its decision on the motion to dismiss, ruling that "Plaintiffs do not have standing to challenge, pursuant to the Court's oral ruling and prior written order, Edmonds City Code 5.26.030." CP 17. The Superior Court ruled that the Storage Provision—which Plaintiffs had standing to challenge under the UDJA—was preempted by RCW 9.41.290. *Id*.

The parties cross-appealed. Following oral argument, the Court of Appeals reversed the standing decision and held that both provisions of the Edmonds Ordinance were preempted by RCW 9.41.290. For standing under the UDJA, the Court of Appeals relied primarily on its previous decision in *Alim v. City of Seattle*, 14 Wn. App. 2d 838, 474 P.3d 589 (2020), a case involving a similar challenge to a similar law enacted by the

City of Seattle. But while *Alim* reviewed a decision granting a motion to dismiss, the parties here appealed the Superior Court's summary judgment decision. CP 1, 10. The Court of Appeals stated that it would review the Superior Court decision on standing as though it had been decided under CR 12(b)(6). App. at 5 n.2. But then it also apparently looked at the evidence submitted for the cross-motions for summary judgment and concluded that the "evidence suffices" that the gun owners' rights had been "adversely affected" by the Edmonds Ordinance. App. at 7. The Court of Appeals further held that, in any event, the appeal "presents an issue of significant public interest" and therefore fit into an exception to *Diversified Industries*' requirements. *Id*.

As to preemption, the Court of Appeals determined that RCW 9.41.290 preempted the entire Ordinance. It reasoned that the phrase "entire field of firearms regulation" was not ambiguous as to what constitutes the "field," and that the list of preempted topics in the statute was merely "illustrative," such that any local regulation related to firearms would be invalid. App. at 9-10.

#### V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

# A. This Court Should Accept Review to Clarify Whether "Hypothetical Facts" May Be Considered to Establish UDJA Justiciability.

The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with earlier Supreme Court decisions about whether UDJA justiciability implicates a court's subject matter jurisdiction and should be raised under CR 12(b)(1) or CR 12(b)(6). This distinction is significant because, under CR 12(b)(6), a court may consider "hypothetical facts"—unalleged and unproven assertions without basis in pleadings or the record. *Haberman v. Wash. Pub. Power Supply Sys.*, 109 Wn.2d 107, 120, 744 P.2d 1032 (1987). *Alim*, upon which the Court of Appeals relied, was wrong in holding that justifiability under the UDJA was non-jurisdictional and that it could invoke "hypothetical facts." That ruling conflicts with *Diversified Industries*, which held that courts lack jurisdiction over "hypothetical" UDJA disputes.

### (i) The Court of Appeals Decision Conflicts with This Court's Precedent.

When Washington first enacted the UDJA in 1935, this Court emphasized that declaratory judgment statutes raised constitutional issues when they "require[] performance of acts non-judicial in character," such as issuing advisory opinions. *Acme Fin. Co. v. Huse*, 192 Wash. 96, 103, 73 P.2d 341 (1937). Accordingly, this Court has long held that the UDJA does not extend to non-adversarial proceedings and that courts must not

"render advisory opinions or pronouncements upon abstract or speculative questions." *Wash. Beauty College, Inc. v. Huse*, 195 Wash. 160, 164, 80 P.2d 403 (1938). This Court further articulated the justiciability standard in *Diversified Industries*, establishing the governing test:

[B]efore the jurisdiction of a court may be invoked under the act, there must be a justiciable controversy: (1) which is an actual, present and existing dispute, or the mature seeds of one, as distinguished from a possible, dormant, hypothetical, speculative, or moot disagreement, (2) between parties having genuine and opposing interests, (3) which involves interests that must be direct and substantial, rather than potential, theoretical, abstract or academic, and (4) a judicial determination of which will be final and conclusive.

82 Wn.2d at 815. Under *Diversified Industries*, UDJA justiciability is jurisdictional and requires an actual, non-hypothetical dispute.

The Court of Appeals, however, cited *Alim* for the proposition that UDJA standing is non-jurisdictional. The *Alim* court relied upon *In re Marriage of Buecking*, in which this Court sought to resolve "confusion" about subject matter jurisdiction in a case concerning procedural requirements in a marriage dissolution proceeding. 179 Wn.2d 438, 447, 316 P.3d 999 (2013). *Buecking* held that "[s]ubject matter jurisdiction' refers to a court's ability to entertain a type of case, not to its authority to enter an order in a particular case" and that "[t]he legislature cannot restrict the court's jurisdiction where the constitution has specifically granted the

court jurisdiction." *Id.* at 448. But *Buecking* did not address the unique issues raised by USDA justiciability. And as *Alim* acknowledged: "the Supreme Court has, in the past, framed standing and ripeness under the UDJA in jurisdictional terms." *Alim*, 14 Wn. App. 2d at 847.

The result: the Court of Appeals decision guts *Diversified Industries*' requirement that the dispute not be "hypothetical." If, per *Alim*, the UDJA is not jurisdictional, any motion to dismiss is evaluated under the CR 12(b)(6) standard, which permits a court to consider "hypothetical facts" in determining whether plaintiffs have stated a claim. *Alim*, 14 Wn. App. 2d at 851 (quoting *Haberman*, 109 Wn.2d at 120). That cannot be reconciled with *Diversified Industries* and presents an important question for this Court's consideration.

What is more, the Court of Appeals also erred in reviewing the Superior Court's decision as a motion to dismiss under CR 12(b)(6) when the issue was decided again at the summary judgment stage and on a full factual record—one where no plaintiff testified to concrete harm. App. at 5 n.2. Under either CR 12(b)(1) or CR 56 the result should have been the same: there are no allegations and no evidence that any Plaintiff faced any

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> At oral argument, Acting Chief Judge Andrus asked why the Court could not consider "hypothetical facts" in evaluating UDJA standing. Counsel for the City of Edmonds noted that the decision on appeal was a summary judgment decision, fully briefed and on a full evidentiary record. *Bass v. City of Edmonds*, Oral Argument (Jan. 15, 2021), at 23:07-24:40, available at: https://perma.cc/UUD5-K8EE.

likelihood of adverse impact from the enforcement of the Access Provision, so the challenge to that provision should have been dismissed.

### (ii) The Public Interest Will Be Served by Review.

Not only is there a conflict of authority, but this justiciability issue has substantial public importance. The UDJA is frequently invoked to invalidate democratically enacted laws, as the Plaintiffs did here. Requiring plaintiffs to show that they will experience a direct adverse effect and that the dispute not be hypothetical protects the adversary process. Plaintiffs must show that their opposition to a law is rooted in an actual dispute, otherwise anyone who merely disagreed with a law could challenge it. And the requirements of *Diversified Industries* date back to the earliest decisions under the UDJA, when courts across the country were grappling with whether declaratory judgment statutes required them to issue advisory opinions. *Acme Fin. Co.*, 192 Wash. at 103-04. Requiring that a party challenging a statute be adversely impacted assuages concerns that the UDJA invites courts to exceed their constitutional role. *Id.* 

# B. This Court Should Accept Review to Resolve Confusion Amongst Lower Courts About the Public Importance Exception to UDJA Justiciability.

The Court of Appeals, in the alternative, invoked the public importance exception to the *Diversified Industries* standing requirement. That too raises an issue warranting this Court's review because there is

diverging authority about when this exception should be applied and how narrow it is, and the Court of Appeals added to this confusing situation by applying its own *sui generis* standard.

The public importance exception applies only in "rare cases," and this Court has long limited it to cases in which the plaintiff can show actual harm. Lewis Cnty. v. State, 178 Wn. App. 431, 440, 315 P.3d 550 (2013). In Walker v. Munro, this Court rejected an argument that Washington courts regularly "dispensed with the justiciability test" in "cases of major public import," noting that this was "an overstatement." 124 Wn.2d 402, 415, 879 P.2d 920 (1994). Instead, the Court concluded: "even if we do not always adhere to all four requirements of the [UDJA] justiciability test, this court will not render judgment on a hypothetical or speculative controversy, where concrete harm has not been alleged." *Id.* The Court also noted that it had, on "rare occasion, rendered an advisory opinion as a matter of comity for other branches of the government or the judiciary." *Id.* at 417. Later that year, this Court clarified that "a statute implicating the public interest is not sufficient to support the examination of an issue which is otherwise not justiciable," but that courts evaluate "the extent to which public interest would be enhanced by reviewing the case." Snohomish Cnty. v. Anderson, 124 Wn.2d 834, 841, 881 P.2d 240 (1994) (emphasis in original).

Ten years later, in *Grant Cnty. Fire Protection District No. 5 v. City of Moses Lake*, this Court articulated a different test for the public importance exception, which applied only where the issues would otherwise "escape review" and which required "a controversy . . . of substantial public importance, [that] immediately affects significant segments of the population, and has a direct bearing on commerce, finance, labor, industry, or agriculture." 150 Wn.2d 791, 803, 83 P.3d 419 (2004). The Court did not explain whether this test was in addition to or replaced *Walker*'s requirement that plaintiffs show some "concrete harm."

The result has been confusion in the lower courts. Some cases apply only the *Anderson* test. *See, e.g. Kitsap Cnty. v. Smith*, 143 Wn. App. 893, 908, 180 P.3d 834 (2008). Other decisions have created *sui generis* tests or merely found that an issue is "important." *See, e.g. Kightlinger v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1*, 119 Wn. App. 501, 505, 81 P.3d 876 (2003) (concluding that a dispute about whether public utility districts are permitted to repair appliances was an issue of public importance); *Am. Traffic Sols., Inc. v. City of Bellingham*, 163 Wn. App. 427, 433, 260 P.3d 245 (2011) (applying public importance exception in a case about automated traffic safety cameras). What is missing in these decisions is a framework that constrains the public importance exception beyond what a judge or litigant believes is

important to the public, so that Washington courts do not exceed their constitutional role.

In this case, there was no showing of "concrete harm" (Walker), and there was no allegation that the Edmonds Ordinance would have any "bearing on commerce, finance, labor, industry, or agriculture" (Grant *Cnty.*), and the issues here will almost certainly see review as a person who does have to change his or her practices would have standing. That is what the Superior Court found. VRP 28:10-12. But the Court of Appeals concluded that the issues presented were "of significant public interest" because "whether a municipality has the authority to enact gun regulations affects every gun owner and every municipality in the state" and because the question of preemption was "a question of law that requires no further factual development." App. at 7-8. But most questions of state law have statewide implications, so adoption of this test would lead to the public importance exception swallowing the doctrine of UDJA justiciability. This Court should accept review so that it can articulate what criteria should guide and limit judicial discretion in invoking this "rare" exception.

## C. This Case Is an Ideal Vehicle for Resolving the Scope of the Firearms Preemption Statute.

This Court should also accept review to define the scope of preemption under RCW 9.41.290. The Court of Appeals announced a limitless standard for interpreting the firearms preemption statute that is at

odds with the reasoning employed by this Court in previous cases and is in direct conflict with at least one other Court of Appeals decision. Following this decision, it is unclear whether local governments have *any* authority to enact regulations that relate in any manner to firearms.

### (i) The Court of Appeals Decision Creates Ambiguity for Lower Courts and Municipalities and Conflicts with Division Two Precedent.

To be sure, the text of RCW 9.41.290 is broad. But the Court of Appeals' interpretation of that statute in this case has no meaningful limits and also fails to acknowledge that this Court has already rejected a reading that would preempt "the entire field of gun-related laws and ordinances." Watson v. City of Seattle, 189 Wn.2d 149, 172, 401 P.3d 1 (2017). The Court of Appeals' analysis here emphasized the first clause of the first sentence of RCW 9.41.290 (the state "fully occupies and preempts the entire field of firearms regulation"). But it did not give any meaning to the list of topics that follows that first clause ("including the registration, licensing, possession, purchase, sale, acquisition, transfer, discharge, and

transportation of firearms"). The Court stated that this list "described the field," but then it also found the list only "illustrative." App. at 10-11.<sup>2</sup>

Ignoring the import of the listed topics, the Court held that RCW 9.41.290 is unambiguous about the scope of the preempted field. But the decision tells lower courts and municipalities nothing about the scope of the preempted field. Does the "field" encompass *any* regulation related to firearms? Or is the "field of firearms regulation" narrower, allowing some municipal enactments when they are distinct from any topic enumerated in the statute? After reading this opinion, municipal governments across Washington State will have no clear answer as to where the bounds of the "field" lie.

The Court of Appeals was not writing on a blank slate, yet it jettisoned the narrow approach used by this Court in *Watson*, 189 Wn.2d 149, and *Pacific Northwest Shooting Park Association v. City of Sequim*, 158 Wn.2d 342, 144 P.3d 276 (2006) ("*PNSPA*"), and opted for an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Even assuming the list is illustrative, *ejusdem generis* applies, such that an illustrative list is understood as constraining the general category ("firearms regulations") to the topics that are closely associated with the listed examples. The Court of Appeals held that storage was close enough to "possession" (one of the enumerated topics), but that is wrong. As detailed in Petitioner's opening brief to the Court of Appeals (at 35-38), the Ordinance does not apply when the gun is in someone's possession or control. And throughout the rest of Chapter 9.41 of the RCW, possession is used in such a way as to exclude constructive possession, unless the Legislature specified explicitly that it intended to include constructive possession or ownership as it did in RCW 9.41.040. Unfortunately, the Court of Appeals drew the wrong lesson from RCW 9.41.040, concluding that it meant that the Legislature always intended possession to include constructive possession.

interpretation of RCW 9.41.290 that directly conflicts with the decision of Division II of the Court of Appeals in Kitsap Cnty. v. Kitsap Rifle & Revolver Club, 1 Wn. App. 2d 393, 405 P.3d 1026 (2017). In Watson, plaintiffs argued that a local tax was preempted because the Legislature intended to preempt "the entire field of gun-related laws and ordinances." 189 Wn.2d at 172. The *Watson* Court rejected these arguments because the local law was a tax, not a regulation, but in the process, it made plain that not all gun-related ordinances are preempted and that the scope of the field Id. This is consistent, too, with the narrow is the key question. interpretation that this Court applied in *PNSPA*, which held that RCW 9.41.290 was unclear in whether it applied to municipal enactments in which the municipality is acting in its proprietary capacity. 158 Wn.2d at 356-58. As with *Watson*, *PNSPA* is factually distinguishable, but the analysis acknowledged ambiguities in the statute and accordingly construed it in favor of municipal enactments. *Id*.

The Court of Appeals tried to distinguish the *Kitsap Rifle & Revolver Club* decision because it was "so different," but the analysis and holdings of the two decisions cannot be squared. App. at 15. The regulation at issue in *Kitsap Rifle* prohibited discharge of firearms in certain areas, with an exception allowing discharge of firearms in permitted shooting facilities, and also imposed a set of standards and requirements on permitted shooting

facilities. 1 Wn. App. 2d at 402-03. The court concluded that this regulation was not encompassed within the "field of firearms regulation" because it was not listed within RCW 9.41.290's list of preempted categories. *Id.* at 406-07. The *Kitsap Rifle* Court acknowledged that the local ordinance did indirectly regulate discharge, which is one of the expressly preempted topics, but held that an indirect relationship to an enumerated topic of preemption did not bring the local ordinance within the preempted field. *Id.* at 407. The Court of Appeals in this case ignored the *Kitsap Rifle* Court's reasoning, emphasizing instead that the regulation in that case was indirect and regulated a business's activities. App. at 15. But to the extent that the regulation here has any connection to any listed topic in RCW 9.41.290, it is an indirect one.<sup>3</sup>

Plaintiffs argued for a broad interpretation below, one which encompassed all local regulations relating to firearms, but to be consistent with precedent they were forced to carve out one-off exceptions to their broad rule to reflect the precedent that has upheld local gun regulations ("as long as the regulation pertains to firearms, and not shooting ranges or convention center permitting, municipalities may not regulate firearms")

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Court of Appeals also relied upon the fact that Edmonds did not contend "that its Ordinance is an exercise of police power under RCW 36.32.120(7)." App. at 15. That is, of course, technically true because Chapter 36.32 of the RCW describes the police powers of *counties*, while Edmonds enacted this ordinance under the police powers granted to *code cities* (RCW 35A.11.010 *et seq*).

without explaining where those exceptions could be found in the statute (Resp. Br. at 20). They cannot be—the fact is that their (and the Court of Appeals') rule is inconsistent with precedent.

### (ii) The Public Interest Will Be Served by Review.

Given this conflict, municipal governments across the state have no meaningful guidance about how RCW 9.41.290 is likely to apply to regulations they have enacted or are considering enacting pursuant to their police power. Should they take the approach used by the Kitsap Rifle Court—which gives primacy to the list of preempted topics—or should they opt for the broader, but confusing, approach employed in this case? How far does the field of firearms regulation extend under the Court of Appeals' approach in this case? Could a municipality require that gun owners take certain steps to safely dispose of firearms or ammunition, rather than simply dumping them at a landfill? It is now far from clear that a local government could take this step, as it arguably relates to "possession." What about a local regulation requiring (or incentivizing) gun owners to report lost or stolen firearms? Is that close enough to "possession" that it gets shoehorned in? Could a municipality require that school marksmanship clubs follow certain safety practices? The hypotheticals abound and municipal governments need guidance.

The City of Edmonds, like other municipal governments across the

State, faces a patchwork of confusing and contradictory points of authority.

In the face of ambiguity about what regulations related to firearms fall

within the preempted field, cities and counties may be hesitant to employ

their police power to protect the health and safety of Washingtonians. This

case is a perfect vehicle to provide clarity and guidance to local

governments and to the community members who push their local

governments to act to prevent tragedies.

VI. CONCLUSION

For these reasons, the City respectfully requests that the Court grant

this Petition for Review and vacate the Court of Appeals decision.