FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/23/2021 4:48 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 99596-6 Court of Appeals No. 80755-2-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF EDMONDS, a municipality; DAVE EARLING, Mayor of the City of Edmonds, in his official capacity; EDMONDS POLICE DEPARTMENT, a department of the City of Edmonds; and AL COMPAAN, Chief of Police, in his official capacity,

Petitioners,

v.

BRETT BASS, an individual; SWAN SEABERG, an individual; CURTIS McCULLOUGH, an individual; THE SECOND AMENDMENT FOUNDATION, INC., a Washington non-profit corporation; and NATIONAL RIFLE ASSOCIATION OF AMERICA, INC., a New York non-profit association.

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The Court of Appeals Did Not Apply the "Hypothetical Facts" Pleading Standard When Holding that Respondents Had Standing to Challenge the Access Provision

The premise of Petitioners' argument is that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *Diversified Industries* by citing *Alim v. City of Seattle* for the holding that a UDJA motion to dismiss is analyzed under Rule 12(b)(6) and not Rule 12(b)(1). Petitioner also claims that review of this issue is in the public interest. The problem with Petitioner's argument is three-fold: (1) the portions of the opinion Petitioner points to do not control the result of the case and are dicta; (2) there is no conflict; and (3) there is no "issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4).

First, Petitioners zeros in on footnotes one and two in the Court of Appeals opinion. These footnotes describe the case background, including a sub-issue on appeal regarding whether the trial court had made its standing

rule based on the motion to dismiss or the motion for summary judgment.

But the Court of Appeals' holding that Respondents had standing to challenge the access provision is not based on the Rule 12(b)(6) standard or any alleged "hypothetical facts." Rather, the Court of Appeals held that Respondents had standing based on the testimony submitted in the record with the summary judgment motions.

The City argues the Gun Owners cannot advance a preenforcement challenge to the unauthorized access ordinance, ECC 5.26.030, because they do not intend to ever violate that ordinance and thus have not suffered any injury in fact. But in *Alim v. City of Seattle*, 14 Wn. App. 2d 838, 852, 474 P.3d 589 (2020), this court recently held that "the test under the UDJA is not whether a party intends to violate the law being challenged but merely whether their rights are adversely affected by it." The Gun Owners testified that they have an interest in keeping their firearms unsecured in the presence of unauthorized users, and they will have to deviate from their storage practices to avoid violating both provisions of the ordinance. This evidence suffices under *Alim*.

Bass, 481 P.3d at 600 (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals cited *Alim* for the test for standing under the UDJA, not the correct pleading standard or the "hypothetical facts" standard.

In fact, it appears that Petitioners argument regarding conflict with *Diversified Industries* actually applies to the *Alim* decision, and not this decision. But Petitioners, some of whom were counsel of record in *Alim*, elected not to petition for discretionary review in that case.

Second, Petitioners have not identified an actual conflict between the cited cases. Petitioners appear to disagree with this Courts holding in In Marriage of Buecking, 179 Wn.2d 438, 447, 316 P.3d 999 (2013), which noted that "Washington courts have been inconsistent in their understanding and application of jurisdiction." Petitioners would have the Court of Appeals interpret Diversified Industries's use of the term "jurisdiction" in direct conflict with the recent guidance provided in Buecking. In fact, "jurisdiction" in Diversified Industries does not mean subject matter jurisdiction and there is no conflict between Diversified Industries, Buecking, or any of the other cited decision.

Third, this case is inappropriate to apply "the issue of substantial public interest" provision of RAP 13.4(b)(4). This issue would not alter the result of the case and there is no actual conflict in the case law. Last, Petitioners have no identified an emergent situation which requires this Court to reach out and solve the issue now. To the extent Petitioners identify any legitimate concerns regarding the UDJA, other cases will provide a better vehicle for review.

Review should be denied.

B. The Court of Appeals Correctly Applied the "Public Interest Exception" to the Diversified Industries Test for Standing as an Alternative Holding After Concluding That Respondents Actually Have Standing

This issue is not appropriate for review because Petitioners have not identified any actual conflict between the Court of Appeals decision and other precedent. Petitioners merely allege "confusion" and multiple tests in order to determine when to apply the judicially-created exception. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1)–(2).

This case is also an inappropriate because the "public interest exception" holding was **in the alternative** to the Court of Appeals other conclusion, which was that Respondents actually have standing to challenge the Access Provision. As explained above, the Court of Appeals did not apply the Rule 12(b)(6) "hypothetical facts" standard to reach that conclusion, and Petitioners have not identified the Court of Appeals' actual holding as an error or issue for review. Thus, even if Petitioners were correct regarding the need for this Court to provide guidance on the test for the public interest exception, review of this case would not change its result and would be entirely **advisory**.

Review should be denied.

C. The Court of Appeals Correctly Held that RCW 9.41.290 Preempts Local Regulation of Firearms

Review should be denied over the issue of the scope of the preemption statute for two reasons. First, Petitioners have not actually identified any conflict with a decision of this Court or a published decision of the Court of Appeals. Second, this case is inappropriate for review under "the issue of substantial public interest" provision of RAP 13.4(b)(4) because Petitioners fail to provide any reason why the Court of Appeals was incorrect when it rejected all of Petitioners' arguments in the decision below.

First, Petitioners provide several arguments regarding "ambiguity" and suggests that the Court of Appeals departed from this Court's analysis in *Watson v. City of Seattle*, 189 Wn.2d 149, 401 P.3d 1 (2017), before eventually arguing that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *Kitsap County v. Kitsap Rifle & Revolver Club*, 1 Wn. App. 2d 393, 405 P.3d 1026 (2017). But the Court of Appeals created no conflict with either decision.

Regarding *Watson*, the Court of Appeals stated:

In *Watson*, the Supreme Court concluded that RCW 9.41.290 did not preempt a Seattle ordinance imposing a tax on firearms and ammunition sold within the city limits. But the basis for its holding was that the ordinance was a tax and not a "regulation" at all. *Watson*, 189 Wn.2d at 172. The court rejected the challengers' preemption argument because RCW 9.41.290 only preempted "regulations," and not taxation. Id. In this case, the City does not argue, as the City of Seattle in *Watson*, that the ordinance is not a firearm regulation.

Bass, 481 P.3d at 603.

Regarding *Kitsap County*, the Court of Appeals acknowledged Petitioners' argument but pointed out that the ordinance at issue in that case was a business permit regulation, and did not directly regulate the general public's use of firearms. In the key passage, the Court of Appeals stated:

Kitsap County is distinguishable because the local ordinances at issue are so different. The Edmond Ordinance, unlike Kitsap County's shooting range permit requirement, directly regulates the manner in which gun owners possess, store, and allow others to access their firearms. It is not regulating a business's activities, like the county

ordinance does. . . . The Ordinance is therefore a "firearm regulation" within the meaning of RCW 9.41.290.

regulation within the meaning of RC w 9.41.290.

Bass, 481 P.3d at 604 (emphasis added). Kitsap County is easily

distinguishable, and Petitioners cannot point to any actual conflict to justify

this Court's review.

Second, this case does not warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) for

several reasons, not least of which is that the statutory text is very broad and

no dispute that the Ordinance is a regulation. While Petitioners may prefer

it otherwise, review of the Court of Appeals decision will not disturb the

State's preemption of the "entire field" of firearms regulation.

Review should be denied.

DATED this 23rd day of April, 2021.

CORR CRONIN LLP

s/Eric A. Lindberg

Steven W. Fogg, WSBA 23528

Eric A. Lindberg, WSBA No. 43596

1001 Fourth Avenue, Suite 3900

Seattle, Washington 98154-1051

Tel: (206) 625-8600

Fax: (206) 625-0900

Attorneys for Cross-Appellants

- 13 -